DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 21-0036

ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant Below, Petitioner,



v.

AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG CORPORATION and BELLCO DRUG CORPORATION,

Plaintiffs Below, Respondents,

v.

ACE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY and ACE PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants Below, Intervenor-Petitioners.

BRIEF OF INTERVENOR-PETITIONERS
ACE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY AND
ACE PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

J. Zak Ritchie (WVSB #11705)

Counsel of Record

HISSAM FORMAN DONOVAN RITCHIE PLLC

P.O. Box 3983

Charleston, WV 25339

(681) 265-3802 office

(304) 982-8056 fax

zritchie@hfdrlaw.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

ACE joins in St. Paul's Assignments of Error and makes the following additional assignment: The Circuit Court abused its discretion by granting injunctive relief that is futile, in contravention of a fundamental principle of equity. It was legal error to enter such an injunction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondents AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation and Bellco Drug Corporation ("AmerisourceBergen") have been named in thousands of lawsuits based on their alleged role in the nationwide opioid crisis. Defendants below are AmerisourceBergen's primary commercial general liability insurance carriers—St. Paul and ACE—and just two of its many excess carriers.

In this action, filed in 2017, AmerisourceBergen seeks insurance coverage for underlying opioid lawsuits that were filed against it in and relate to events in West Virginia. SPApp.0001.¹ In November 2020, it was announced that AmerisourceBergen and other opioid distributors had reached a \$21 billion global settlement of over 3,000 underlying opioid lawsuits filed *outside* West Virginia. SPApp.0310. Two days later, St. Paul commenced a comprehensive action in California seeking a declaration regarding coverage, if any, concerning the settlement and thousands of opioid lawsuits outside West Virginia. SPApp.0307. AmerisourceBergen then sought and obtained the Order, which bars the parties here from litigating coverage as to opioid lawsuits filed outside West Virginia in the California court or any other court, SPApp.1780, even though AmerisourceBergen

¹ "SPApp." and "ACEApp." refer to the appendices to St. Paul's brief and this brief, respectively.

has limited this action to West Virginia lawsuits and litigated on that basis for years.²

St. Paul has appealed the Order, and ACE now intervenes. For additional procedural history and detail, ACE respectfully refers the Court to St. Paul's Statement of the Case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court issued an anti-suit injunction affecting an action in a sister state, an extreme measure rarely used, and apparently never in this state. ACE is aware of no other anti-suit injunction enjoining only a subset of the parties in a more comprehensive action, such that litigation of issues there will continue without those parties. Moreover, in an extraordinary affront to comity, the Order effectively declares the Circuit Court to be the only court in the United States where the enjoined insurers may seek coverage rulings relating to AmerisourceBergen and opioids, even though opioids are a national issue. As set forth in St. Paul's brief, the Order is fatally flawed.

And the Order should be reversed for another, independent reason—it contravenes the fundamental principle that equity will not do a useless thing. Although the Order hobbles the ability of the insurer-parties here to protect their interests in the California action, that action will go forward. Four of the five plaintiff-insurers and 66 of the 70 defendant-insurers in the California action are not parties here and thus are not enjoined. A number of the additional parties assert claims in the California action, seeking coverage rulings with respect to AmerisourceBergen on the same policy language that, according to the Circuit Court, is at issue here. Thus, neither the

² In addition to limiting this action to coverage for West Virginia opioid lawsuits in its complaints, *see* SPApp.0001–02, ¶ 1; SPApp.0024–25, ¶ 1, AmerisourceBergen repeatedly affirmed at a hearing that this action would be thus limited in order to obtain an extension of time to amend its pleadings, stating, "we do intend to add [] other West Virginia cases; we have no intent of adding cases from other jurisdictions," ACEApp.005 at 18–20; *see also* ACEApp.006 at 10–13 (AmerisourceBergen: "We anticipate there will be additional [cases], and we would anticipate joining those into this case for the coverage issue, but only as to the West Virginia cases." The Court: "Not going outside —" AmerisourceBergen: "Not going outside West Virginia."); ACEApp.007 at 20–22 ("This is really limited to the coverage and duty to defend the West Virginia actions under these — for these four carriers under these policies."); ACEApp.027 (post-hearing order, stating, "Counsel for plaintiff affirmed that, in this matter, it is seeking and will only seek coverage for … prescription opioid lawsuits filed against ABDC in West Virginia.").

principal harm identified by AmerisourceBergen—the risk of inconsistent rulings—nor any other ostensible harm is eliminated by the Order. The injunction is futile and therefore inequitable.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is warranted because this appeal raises an issue of "first impression" and "fundamental public importance": whether an anti-suit injunction affecting an action in a sister state is proper even if it is ineffective to remedy any harm. See W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a).

ARGUMENT

ACE joins in the arguments presented in St. Paul's brief. As St. Paul explains, the Order violates fundamental principles of comity essential to harmonious relations between co-equal states, including the well-established, threshold requirement that, for a court to issue an anti-suit injunction, the enjoined action must involve the same parties and issues as the action before the enjoining court.³ Moreover, the standard elements required for injunctive relief are not met, and the injunction motion did not address the harm to ACE and the other defendant-insurers in the California action if they could not assert cross-claims, as other insurers have done.

The Order also should be reversed for an independent reason. It violates the fundamental principle that "[e]quity will not do a useless thing." *N.Y. Times Co. v. United States*, 403 U.S. 713, 744 (1971) (Marshall, J., concurring) (citing 1 H. Joyce, Injunctions §§ 58–60a (1909)).⁴ In a

³ Moreover, as the D.C. Circuit explained in a case this Court has cited on comity, even where the parties are the same, "the possibility of . . . potentially inconsistent adjudications does not outweigh the respect and deference owed to independent foreign proceedings." Laker Airways Ltd. v. Sabena, 731 F.2d 909, 928–29 (D.C. Cir. 1984); see Gebr. Eickhoff Maschinenfabrik & Eisengieberei mbH v. Starcher, 174 W.Va. 618, 328 S.E.2d 492, 501–06 (1985) (relying on Laker Airways); Pasquale v. Ohio Power Co., 187 W. Va. 292, 418 S.E.2d 738, 746 (1992) (citing Laker Airways in a case involving Ohio law). Other courts agree. See, e.g., Golden Rule v. Harper, 925 S.W.2d 649, 651–52 (Tex. 1996) (per curiam); Auerbach v. Frank, 685 A.2d 404, 409 (D.C. 1996); Advanced Bionics Corp. v. Medtronic, Inc., 59 P.3d 231, 236 (Cal. 2002).

⁴ Accord Kinney v. Barnes, 443 S.W.3d 87, 97 (Tex. 2014); State v. Lake Super. Ct., 820 N.E.2d 1240, 1256 (Ind. 2005); Lortz v. Rose, 145 S.W.2d 385, 387 (Mo. 1940); cf. Hunter Grp., Inc. v. Smith, 164 F.3d 624 (4th Cir. 1998) (per curiam) (injunction must be denied if it "will not remedy the injuries . . . identified").

decision affirmed by the Delaware Supreme Court, the Delaware Chancery Court declined to enjoin insurance coverage proceedings in another state—West Virginia, as it happens—for precisely this reason. *See N. River Ins. Co. v. Mine Safety Appliances Co.*, No. 8456-VCG, 2013 WL 6713229, at *1 (Del. Ch. Dec. 20, 2013), *aff'd*, 105 A.3d 369 (Del. 2014), *as revised* (Nov. 10, 2014). *North River* is directly on point.

In *North River*, a mine safety equipment manufacturer and its insurers had commenced five lawsuits involving coverage for thousands of claims filed against the insured as the result of alleged defects in its equipment. *Id.* at *2–*4. While a comprehensive action between the insured and dozens of its insurers was pending in the Delaware Superior Court, tort victims filed actions in West Virginia courts against the insured. *Id.* at *4–6. Relying upon West Virginia's Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, the tort victims also sued the insurer North River directly, and the insured then cross-claimed against North River for indemnity. *Id.* The sole insurance policy at issue in the West Virginia cases was already at issue in the Delaware case. *Id.* at *3–*5, *10.

North River then sought an anti-suit injunction from the Delaware Chancery Court to enjoin the insured's prosecution of the West Virginia actions. According to North River, the insured was colluding with the tort victims in West Virginia to evade the jurisdiction of the Delaware Superior Court and Pennsylvania courts in which the parties were engaged in related litigation. *Id.* at *1, *6, *8, *10. North River argued that the insured's cross-claims against it in West Virginia exposed it to a risk of inconsistent judgments, necessitating an injunction. *Id.* at *6.

The Delaware court refused to issue the injunction. *Id.* at *1, *7-*10. The court observed that an anti-suit "injunction is an extraordinary form of relief," in part because "[a] sense of comity [is] owed to the courts of other states." *Id.* at *7-*8. The West Virginia court had denied North River's motion to dismiss the pending cases there, ruling that the underlying plaintiffs had the right

to pursue direct claims against the insurer. *Id.* at *6. According respect to the West Virginia Court's decision, the Chancery Court recognized that any injunction of the insured alone would "be ineffective to achieve its desired result" of preventing the risk of inconsistent judgments, because the underlying plaintiffs' action against North River would continue. *Id.* at *7, *9. Thus, honoring "the well-established principle that equity will not do a useless thing," North River had failed to show that an injunction was appropriate. *Id.* at *9; *see also id.* at *1.5

The same reasoning applies here. The California action involves plaintiffs and numerous defendants and cross-plaintiffs who are not parties here.⁶ The Circuit Court has not enjoined those additional parties and, indeed, lacks authority to do so. *See* SPApp.1798, ¶ 89 ("An anti-suit injunction is directed at the parties appearing before this Court.") (citing *State v. Fredlock*, 52 W. Va. 232, 232, 43 S.E. 153, 159 (2002)).

Like the West Virginia action sought to be enjoined in *North River*, the California action here will continue regardless of the Order. The additional plaintiffs and cross-plaintiffs will litigate their claims concerning the policies they issued to AmerisourceBergen and other companies—policies that AmerisourceBergen avers contain materially similar terms to those at issue here. SPApp.0088, ¶ 51–53. The possibility of inconsistent rulings in the California action will remain. So too, will the other ostensible harms—economic burden, delay, inefficiency, and uncertainty. *See* SPApp.1804–07, ¶ 126–40. The Order "def[ies] the well-established principle that equity will not do a useless thing," *North River* 2013 WL 6713229, at *9, and should be reversed.

⁵ The Vice Chancellor also observed that an injunction would prejudice the insured by "preclud[ing] [it] from protecting its rights . . . while North River continues to litigate . . . in West Virginia." *Id.* at *9. The Order likewise prejudices ACE by preventing it from asserting cross-claims in the California action.

⁶ See SPApp.0026–27, ¶¶ 8–15 (amended complaint, listing parties to West Virginia action); SPApp.0311–18, ¶¶ 8–23 (complaint, listing parties to California action); SPApp.1867 (National Union cross-complaint); SPApp.1988 (Arrowood cross-complaint); ACE App.035 (Hartford cross-complaint).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Order should be reversed.