DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE DOCKET NO. 21-0036



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant below / Petitioner,

FILE COPY

v.

AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG CORPORATION and BELLCO DRUG CORPORATION,

Plaintiffs below / Respondent,

and

ACE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY and ACE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

Defendants below / Intervenors.

(From the Circuit Court of Boone County, West Virginia Civil Action No. 17-C-36)

AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG CORPORATION AND BELLCO DRUG CORPORATION'S BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Charles S. Piccirillo (WVSB# 2902)
Todd A. Mount (WVSB# 6939)
SHAFFER & SHAFFER PLLC
330 State Street, P.O. Box 38

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

An application of controlling law to the uncontroverted facts requires affirmance of the Circuit Court's Injunction Order. Antisuit injunctions—which enjoin parties within a court's jurisdiction, not other lawsuits or sister courts themselves—are a settled component of West Virginia law and flow directly from a circuit court's authority to issue injunctions directed to parties within in its jurisdiction. Such injunctions protect the West Virginia court's jurisdiction when a party before a West Virginia court has improperly filed a duplicative lawsuit—resulting in a waste of judicial resources and a threat of inconsistent decisions—and particularly when the party filing the duplicative lawsuit is forum shopping with an aim to seek a different result in a different court. West Virginia law is not alone in endorsing antisuit injunctions. Federal and state courts across the country recognize the propriety of such injunctions, the underlying rationale for such injunctions, and the legal standards that control the analysis when such an injunction is sought.

The Circuit Court correctly applied the standard governing antisuit injunctions and concluded one was warranted here. St. Paul's California lawsuit—filed nearly four years after AmerisourceBergen commenced the Circuit Court action—involves the same parties to the Circuit Court action, the same policies at issue in Circuit Court action, and the same underlying factual allegations at issue in the Circuit Court action. One of the core legal questions in the California lawsuit—whether the thousands of opioid lawsuits AmerisourceBergen is facing around the country seek damages for bodily injury or property damage as required to trigger general liability coverage—already is before and has been

decided (adverse to St. Paul) by the Circuit Court. In these circumstances, the Circuit Court was well within its discretion to enjoin the parties from prosecuting duplicative lawsuits during the pendency of the West Virginia litigation.

Faced with this conclusion, which is compelled by West Virginia law, St. Paul and ACE offer a series of arguments that are flawed as a matter of law, fact, or both. St. Paul's professed intention to exclude from its California lawsuit the underlying West Virginia lawsuits is belied by St. Paul's California complaint. What's more, St. Paul's supposed carve-out is not a carve-out at all, because it provides no solution to the problems engendered by the very existence of the two lawsuits addressing the same legal issues—namely, the waste of judicial resources and the risk of inconsistent rulings. St. Paul's comity and constitutional arguments are entirely unsupported—which is not surprising because antisuit injunctions do not offend principles of comity and federalism or interfere with the enjoined parties' rights. Indeed, two courts (the Circuit Court and California court) have independently concluded that it is St. Paul's own conduct in filing the California lawsuit that offends comity.

ACE's argument that equity should not "do a useless thing" fares no better for the same reasons. The injunction—which protects the Circuit Court's jurisdiction and avoids the other adverse consequences that will flow from duplicative lawsuits—is not "useless." It applies to any duplicative litigation, whether in California or elsewhere.

St. Paul's final salvo—that the Circuit Court should have applied the traditional injunction standard—is equally flawed because even if that were the correct standard, the Circuit Court made the exact type of findings in favor of the injunction that the traditional standard requires (related to irreparable harm, the absence of remedy at law, and the balance of harms) in entering the Injunction Order. This Court, accordingly, should affirm.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Respondents AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation and Bellco Drug Corporation request oral argument. Oral argument is warranted under Rule 20 because this case involves issues of "fundamental public importance" and St. Paul raises "constitutional questions regarding the validity of a ... court ruling." W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a).

ARGUMENT⁸

This Court's review of a circuit court's decision to grant injunctive relief consists of a "three-pronged deferential standard of review." State ex rel. E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co. v. Hill, 214 W. Va. 760, 767, 591 S.E.2d 318, 325 (2003) (emphasis added). First, this Court "review[s] the final order granting the ... injunction and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard." Id. (citing West v. Nat'l Mines Corp., 168 W. Va. 578, 590, 285 S.E.2d 670, 678 (1981)). Second, this Court reviews the circuit court's underlying factual findings for clear error. Id. (citing State by & Through McGraw v. Imperial Mktg., 196 W. Va. 346, 472 S.E.2d 114, Syl. Pt. 1 (1996)). And third, this Court reviews questions of law de novo. Id.

I. The Circuit Court Adhered To West Virginia Law And Properly Exercised Its Discretion In Entering The Injunction Order

The law authorizes antisuit injunctions to prevent litigants from engaging in exactly the type of conduct St. Paul has engaged in here—filing a substantially similar lawsuit in a foreign

⁸ St. Paul's Brief of Petitioner lists six assignments of error. The argument section of its brief, however, does not strictly align with those assignments. This Respondents' Brief responds to all of St. Paul's assignments of error as follows: Section I addresses all of St. Paul's argument that antisuit injunctions are not authorized by law. St. Paul's assignment No. 2 (relating to the legal standard for issuing an injunction) is also addressed in Section II. The additional assignment of error contained in ACE's Intervenor's Brief is addressed in Section I.E.

jurisdiction for improper purposes or where the second suit would interfere with the original action. See §§ I.A and B, infra. Indeed, at least one court has issued an antisuit injunction at St. Paul's request based on many of the grounds on which the Circuit Court's Injunction Order here is built. That directly contradicts St. Paul's assertion that antisuit injunctions are somehow so extraordinary that they are almost never granted.

Contrary to St. Paul's assertions—which are based on mischaracterizations of the Circuit Court's Injunction Order—the order is entirely consistent with this longstanding precedent, and falls within the Circuit Court's substantial discretion. The Order does not enjoin the California court—instead, it enjoins the parties before the Circuit Court from prosecuting collateral litigation on the issues that have been litigated in the Circuit Court for nearly four years. Given the substantial overlap between the West Virginia lawsuit and St. Paul's California complaint and the likelihood that allowing the California action to proceed would interfere with the resolution of, and rulings in, the West Virginia case, the Circuit Court was within its discretion to enjoin St. Paul and the other insurer defendants from proceeding in California—or elsewhere—and attempting an end-run around the West Virginia court's jurisdiction. See § I.C, infra. Finally, neither comity nor the prohibition on "equity doing a useless thing" are impediments to the Circuit Court's order. To the contrary, those principles only further buttress the Circuit Court's ruling. See §§ I.D and E, infra.

A. West Virginia Law Authorizes Anti-Suit Injunctions To Enjoin Parties From Filing Duplicative Lawsuits In Other Jurisdictions To Protect The Court's Jurisdiction And To Avoid The Waste Of Resources And Risk Of Inconsistent Results

"Every judge of a circuit court shall have general jurisdiction in awarding injunctions, whether the judgment or proceeding enjoined be in or out of his circuit, or the party against whose proceeding the injunction be asked reside in or out of the same." W. Va. Code § 53-5-4.

Pursuant to that statutory authorization, circuit courts have wide discretion in determining when injunctive relief is appropriate, based on the circumstances of the particular case. *Jefferson Cnty. Bd. of Educ. v. Jefferson Cnty. Educ. Ass'n*, 183 W. Va. 15, 24, 393 S.E.2d 653, 662 (1990) ("The granting or refusal of an injunction, ... calls for the exercise of sound judicial discretion in view of all the circumstances of the particular case; regard being had to the nature of the controversy, the object for which the injunction is being sought, and the comparative hardship or convenience to the respective parties involved in the award" (internal quotation marks omitted)).

The courts of this State have long recognized circuit courts' authority to protect their jurisdiction over ongoing proceedings by enjoining individuals from taking action outside of the county or the state that would undermine the court's exercise of its jurisdiction. See, e.g. Kessel v. Leavitt, 204 W. Va. 95, 150, 511 S.E.2d 720, 725-26 (1998) (recognizing that courts are permitted "to enjoin acts occurring outside of their territorial jurisdiction where the injunctive relief is merely ancillary to an underlying proceeding over which the court unquestionably has jurisdiction"). Moreover, "a court having jurisdiction in personam, may require the [party] to do, or refrain from doing, beyond its territorial jurisdiction, anything which it has the power to require him to do or omit within the limits of its territory." Id. (citing State v. Fredlock, 52 W. Va. 232, 240, 43 S.E. 153 (1902)).

For more than a century this Court has recognized a circuit court's authority to enjoin a party to proceedings in a West Virginia court from seeking the same relief in a different court where "unfair use is being made of the other legal forum":

It is a doctrine of law too long established to require a citation of authorities, that, where a court has jurisdiction, it has a right to decide every question which occurs in the cause, and whether its decision be correct or otherwise, its judgment, till reversed, is regarded as binding in every other court; and that,

where the jurisdiction of a court, and the right of a plaintiff to prosecute his suit in it, have once attached, that right cannot be arrested or taken away by proceedings in another court. These rules have their foundation, not merely in comity, but on necessity.

Fredlock, 52 W. Va. at 241, 43 S.E. at 156-57. Where a court enters an injunction to prevent the mischief that will result from duplicative litigation in another court, the injunction "is directed, not to the [other] court, but to the litigant parties, and in no manner denies the jurisdiction of the [other] tribunal. It merely seeks to control the person to whom it is addressed, and to prevent him from using the process of courts of law where it would be against conscience to allow him to proceed." *Id.* at 247-48, 43 S.E. at 159.

The Circuit Court acted well within its discretion in enjoining parties subject to its jurisdiction from prosecuting the California collateral coverage litigation. Indeed, the court did exactly what West Virginia law explicitly instructed it to do: it carefully considered the specific facts of this case; it weighed the potential harms to both sides and to the sovereignty of West Virginia courts; and, based on those considerations, it issued a limited injunction only until the conclusion of this case. See Section I.C, infra.

B. Courts Across The Country Likewise Authorize Antisuit Injunctions For These Same Reasons

West Virginia is not an outlier in authorizing antisuit injunctions. Nor are antisuit injunctions so extraordinary as to be rarely—if ever—granted, as St. Paul suggests. *See e.g Monihan v. Monihan*, 264 A.2d 653, 655 (Pa. 1970) (Roberts, J., concurring) ("Antisuit injunctions are hardly novel ... cases [since at least 1890] do not even bother to question the constitutional validity of such injunctions.") (citing, inter alia, *Cole v. Cunningham*, 133 U.S. 107, 134 (1890)).

Indeed, St. Paul itself has sought, and obtained, an antisuit injunction relying on the same arguments AmerisourceBergen makes here. In St. Paul Mercury Insurance Co. v. Northern States Power Co., St. Paul filed suit in Minnesota regarding insurance coverage for cleanup of certain contaminated properties. No. A05-486, 2005 Minn. App. Unpub. LEXIS 626 at *3 (Minn. Ct. App. Dec. 27, 2005). Several weeks later, the defendant in the Minnesota suit sought declaratory relief in Wisconsin. Id. St. Paul moved for, and the Minnesota trial court entered, an injunction prohibiting defendants in the suit from moving forward in the Wisconsin suit. Applying the same basic analysis as the Circuit Court applied here, the Minnesota appellate court affirmed the entry of an antisuit injunction for St. Paul, finding that the Minnesota suit was first-filed and that the parties and issues in the Minnesota and Wisconsin lawsuits were substantially the same; thus, it would be a waste of judicial resources and time to proceed in both forums and that the risk of inconsistent adjudications weighed in favor of the injunction. Id. at *7.

The law across the country is in accord, recognizing that courts have the inherent authority to enjoin litigants subject to their jurisdiction from prosecuting foreign suits where necessary "to prevent vexatious or oppressive litigation." *Kaepa, Inc. v. Achilles Corp.*, 76 F.3d 624, 626 (5th Cir. 1996); *see also Advanced Bionics Corp. v. Medtronic, Inc.*, 29 Cal. 4th 697, 711 (2002) (explaining that "[s]tate courts have the power to issue antisuit injunctions; they can restrain litigants from proceeding in suits brought in a sister state or in a foreign nation" and collecting cases).

The cases recognize that antisuit injunctions "are most often necessary to protect the jurisdiction of the enjoining court, or to prevent the litigant's evasion of the important public policies of the forum." Filler v. Lernout (In re Lernout & Hauspie Sec. Litig.), 2003 U.S.

Dist. LEXIS 22466, at *18 (D. Mass. Dec. 12, 2003) (collecting cases); Sanders v. Blockbuster, Inc., 127 S.W.3d 382, 387 (Tex. App.—Beaumont 2004, pet. denied) ("The court's powers of enforcement include the issuance of antisuit injunctions to prevent relitigating the identical issues in a foreign court.") (internal quotation marks omitted); John Hancock Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Fiorilla, 199 A.2d 65, 68-69 (N.J. Super. Ct. Ch. Div. 1964) ("[T]here is the general rule, essential to the orderly administration of justice, that as between courts otherwise equally entitled to entertain jurisdiction, that court which first obtains possession of the controversy ought to be allowed to proceed and dispose of it without interference.") (internal citation omitted).

Of particular relevance here, courts routinely uphold injunctions where it can be shown the second suit "is not brought in good faith, or that it was brought for the purpose of vexing, annoying and harassing the party seeking the injunction." IRB-Brazil Resseguros S.A. v. Portobello Int'l Ltd., 59 A.D.3d 366, 366-67 (N.Y. App. Div. 2009) (quoting Paramount Pictures Inc. v. Blumenthal, 256 A.D. 756 (N.Y. App. Div. 1939)). A long delay in bringing the second suit is indicative of bad faith. For example, in IRB-Brazil, the court found that an injunction was warranted because the defendant's delay of a year and a half (far less than St. Paul's nearly four-year delay) in instituting a lawsuit involving the same claims in a foreign tribunal was "evidence of bad faith" litigation tactics, as was the defendant's motivation to avoid New York law. Id. at 367. The court recognized that "a contrary decision in [the foreign court] would interfere with the New York court's ability to resolve the issues before it," and "[c]omity does not require our courts to defer to foreign jurisdiction under such circumstances." Id.; see also Williams v. Payne, 94 P.2d 341, 344 (Kan. 1939) (reversing the

denial of an injunction against a party to a lawsuit in Kansas who waited over a year to file a substantially similar action in Missouri).

As each of these cases demonstrate, it is well settled that a court may enjoin a litigant from prosecuting collateral litigation in order to prevent duplicative litigation, a waste of resources, and potentially inconsistent outcomes. That is especially true when the second lawsuit is a bald effort to secure a "do over" and obtain a different ruling from a different court. St. Paul offers no case law to the contrary. Instead, it points to statements to the effect that antisuit injunctions are rare, and suggests the Circuit Court somehow usurped the jurisdiction of the California courts. These contentions are misleading and, ultimately, wrong. Courts universally authorize antisuit injunctions in circumstances just like those here.

C. The Circuit Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion To Issue An Injunction

Consistent with the legal principles discussed above, the Circuit Court properly focused its Injunction Order on the need to prevent a multiplicity of suits addressing the same issue and to prevent St. Paul from engaging in "vexatious or oppressive litigation." See John Hancock, 199 A.2d at 68; Kaepa, 76 F.3d at 626; Order ¶ 90. The Circuit Court concluded—correctly—that an antisuit injunction was warranted because there is a substantial overlap between this litigation and the California litigation. Indeed, the court spent much of its opinion addressing this overlap and why it necessitated injunctive relief. See Order ¶¶ 93-157. Issuing an injunction based on this detailed analysis was a proper exercise of the Circuit Court's discretion.

As the Circuit Court explained, the identity of legal issues and the factual overlap between the West Virginia and California cases confirms the need for antisuit injunctive relief:

In the California Coverage Action, St. Paul seeks a declaratory judgment (a) against ABDC, Bellco, ACE, American Guarantee, and Endurance, i.e., all

of the parties to this dispute; (b) under all of the insurance policies at issue in this dispute; (c) regarding ABDC's and Bellco's rights, and the rights of certain of their affiliates to insurance coverage under those same insurance policies; (d) for all prescription opioid lawsuits filed against ABDC, Bellco, and certain of their affiliates on a nationwide basis, including the National Opioid MDL.

Id. ¶ 95 (emphasis added). In other words, the parties, the policies, the underlying lawsuits, and the legal issues raised in both lawsuits are substantially the same, which is all that is required to justify an antisuit injunction. See id. ¶¶ 93-125; see also First State Ins. Co. v. Minn. Mining & Mfg. Co., 535 N.W.2d 684, 688 (Minn. App. 1995) (affirming antisuit injunction of later-filed state court suit in insurance coverage action because the later-filed action substantially overlapped with the earlier filed case).

St. Paul argues that differences between the California and West Virginia actions "make[] abundantly clear that there is no relationship between the two actions." St. Paul Br. at 23. That is patently false. The Circuit Court correctly found that the parties, the policies, and the underlying claims in both actions are all substantially the same.

The Parties. St. Paul's assertion that the presence of additional parties in the California action differentiates the two cases is manufactured window dressing that does not undermine the Circuit Court's injunction. For starters, all of the plaintiffs in the California action—including St. Paul—are subsidiaries of the Travelers Companies, Inc. Order ¶ 67.

Nineteen of the other insurer defendants St. Paul names in the California action are affiliates of parties to this action, including ten that are subsidiaries of Chubb Limited (along with the ACE insurers here), six that are subsidiaries of Zurich Insurance Group AG (like American Guarantee and Liability Insurance Company, a defendant here), and three that are subsidiaries of Sompo Holdings Inc. Group (like Endurance American Insurance Company, also a defendant here). See id. ¶ 67. The insurer defendants in the California action that

issued coverage in excess of St. Paul and ACE primary layer policies issued "follow-form" insurance policies, which incorporate the same terms and conditions as the St. Paul and ACE primary policies that are at issue in the Circuit Court case. *See id.* ¶ 106. Coverage under those policies will be determined by evaluating the exact same policy terms that the Circuit Court has interpreted and will be interpreting. *Id.* ¶ 107. The Circuit Court therefore correctly recognized that "the status of these insurers as excess insurers diminishes the[ir] import ... to the present dispute." *Id.* ¶ 105. St. Paul's decision not to amend its pleadings to name these additional insurer defendants after the Circuit Court invited it to add any insurers necessary to "protect its legitimate interests" only serves to confirm that they are not necessary to the resolution of the dispute.

As for the insured entities named in the California action, they all are subsidiaries of AmerisourceBergen Corporation, which was formed in 2001 after Bergen Brunswig and Amerisource Health merged. See id. ¶¶ 60-64. To that end, St. Paul's use of the invented term "Bergen Brunswig Affiliates" is just a clumsy sleight of hand. See, e.g., St. Paul Br. at 7. Bergen Brunswig no longer exists, and all of the additional insured entities (to the extent any such entities actually exist) are current or former subsidiaries of AmerisourceBergen Corporation. Order ¶ 64. If St. Paul wanted to add these entities (most of which have been named as defendants in only a handful of the underlying opioid suits) to this lawsuit, it could have done do. Indeed, the Circuit Court invited such additions. See id. ¶ 162. The fact that St. Paul did not add any additional parties this action telling.

The Policies. St. Paul's assertion that there are additional policies at issue in California is misleading for two reasons. First, it ignores that the policies St. Paul says it has added in the California Action include more than a dozen primary and first layer excess

policies that already are before the Circuit Court. Second, St. Paul ignores the fact—confirmed by the Circuit Court—that "from 1995 to 2018, St. Paul and ACE were the only insurers that issued primary layer insurance to ABC [AmerisourceBergen Corporation] (from 2001 to 2018) or Bergen Brunswig Corporation (from 1995 to 2001)" and that "[d]uring that period the St. Paul and ACE policies' insuring agreements were identical in all material respects." See id. ¶¶ 68-71. Those primary layer policies are represented in the Circuit Court action. Id. Further, as explained, the insurance policies that are excess of the St. Paul and ACE Policies "are 'follow-form' policies that, in relevant part, incorporate the same terms and conditions of the primary layer policies issued by St. Paul and ACE that are before this Court." Id. ¶ 106.

Given that all of the policies at issue in California include or incorporate the same language as the primary layer policies at issue here, the Circuit Court concluded that "[d]ue to the overlap in policy terms and allegations in the underlying claims, the Court's November 23, 2020 [summary judgment] ruling should be broadly applicable to ABDC's rights to coverage for all prescription opioid lawsuits, including those consolidated in the National Opioid MDL, under all insurance policies that could potentially apply to these liabilities." Id. ¶ 132 (emphasis added). St. Paul's insistence that there are other policies at issue in the California litigation ignores this simple fact.

The Underlying Claims. In the California action, St. Paul requests a broad declaration that there is no coverage for defense and indemnification of the prescription opioid lawsuits, including such a declaration as to all lawsuits consolidated into the National Opioid MDL. See id. ¶ 72. This broad request necessarily includes the prescription opioid lawsuits at issue in the Circuit Court action.

First, as the Circuit Court found, "many of the prescription opioid lawsuits for which ABDC seeks coverage in [West Virginia] are, or have been, consolidated in the National Opioid MDL," and there "is no practicable way, therefore, to segregate 'West Virginia defense costs' or 'West Virginia indemnity costs' from the defense and indemnity costs in the National Opioid MDL." *See id.* ¶¶ 114-15. Thus, the Circuit Court concluded that "the declaration St. Paul seeks in Count V of its California Complaint ... would necessarily call for a ruling on the precise coverage issues for the precise underlying cases that have been pending before [the West Virginia] Court since March 16, 2017." *Id.* ¶ 117.

Even if St. Paul could somehow segregate the coverage questions relating to the West Virginia cases from the coverage questions relating to the National Opioid MDL cases, the material underlying allegations in these cases are the same for coverage purposes. The fact that the underlying prescription opioid lawsuits "implicate common fact questions" is why the National Opioid MDL was formed in the first place, and why St. Paul is treating all of those underlying lawsuits together without differentiation for purposes of the California coverage action. *Id.* ¶ 119-20. St. Paul's California lawsuit, which seeks a ruling on *all* policies and coverage for *all* opioid suits thus will necessarily turn on the exact same legal issues that already are before and, in some instances already decided by, the Circuit Court.

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